2000

Water and Energy Systems Technology, Inc. A Utah Corporation v. Steven L. Keil, and Brody Chemical Company, Inc., A Utah Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is a direct appeal from a decision by Judge Rodney S. Page of the Second Judicial District Court, sitting with a jury, in which judgment was entered jointly and severely against the Defendants in the amount of \$188,675.00. Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court pursuant to §78-2-2(3)(j) Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended). Priority is 15.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL AND
STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Was there sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict that the Defendants misappropriated Plaintiff's prices? The Standard of Review in reviewing any jury award of damages is whether there is a sufficient basis for the reviewing court to determine that there is a rational legal basis and a sufficient factual basis for the decision. Sampson vs. Richins, 770 P. 2d 998 (Utah App 1989).

This issue was preserved in the Trial Court by Defendants' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict (R. 1988) and supporting memorandum (R. 1994) and Motion for New Trial or Amendment of Verdict (R. 1986) and the supporting memorandum (R. 1994).

2. Was there sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict that the Defendants interfered with prospective economic relationships of Plaintiff with Alliant Tech, Mag Corp, and Cargill? The Standard of Review is the same as set forth under issue number 1 above.

This issue was preserved in the Trial Court by Defendants' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict (R. 1988) and supporting memorandum (R. 1994) and Motion for New Trial or Amendment of Verdict (R. 1986) and the supporting memorandum (R. 1994).

3. Did the delivery by Defendant Steven L. Keil of letters to Alliant Tech, Mag Corp. or Cargil constitute, as a matter of law, a misappropriation of trade secrets? The Standard of Review is for correctness and abuse of discretion.

Drake vs. Industrial Commission of Utah, 939 P. 2d 177 (Utah 1997)

This issue was preserved in the Trial Court by Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment (R. 1422 and 1670) and the supporting memorandums (R. 1423, 1672 and 1810).

4. Whether the Trial Court erred in failing to grant Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment prior to the trial with respect to the issue of the misappropriation of pricing? The Standard of Review is for correctness.

Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Co., vs. Garfield County, 811 P. 2d 184 (Utah 1991).

This issue was preserved in the Trial Court by Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment (R. 1422 and 1670) and the supporting memorandums (R. 1423, 1672 and 1810).

5. Whether the Trial Court erred in failing to grant Defendants' Motion for a Directed Verdict following the presentation of the Plaintiff's case? The Standard of Review is that the evidence must be reviewed in the light most favorable to the losing party under the Motion and the Reviewing Court must determine that there was a reasonable basis to conclude that the losing party could prevail. Management Committee of Grey Stone Pines Homeowners Association vs. Grey Stone Pines, Inc., 652 P.2d 896 (Utah 1982).

This issue was preserved in the Trial Court by Defendants' Motion for Directed Verdict. (R. 1992.)

6. Whether the Trial Court erred in failing to grant Defendants' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or Motion for New Trial or Amendment of the Verdict, following the trial. The Standard of Review is whether or not the Court was arbitrary and abused its discretion. Smith vs. Shreeve, 551 P.2d 1261 (Utah 1976)

This issue was preserved in the Trial Court by Defendants' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict (R. 1988) and supporting memorandum (R. 1994) and Motion for New Trial or Amendment of Verdict (R. 1986) and the supporting memorandum (R. 1994).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a jury verdict granting judgment for Plaintiff against the Defendants in a misappropriation of trade secrets case. The genesis of this appeal came from an initial ruling by this Court from an Interlocutory Appeal filed by the Defendant Keil in Water & Energy Systems Technology, Inc., vs. Steven L. Keil, 974 P. 2d 821 (Utah 1999). The Court, after reviewing the District Court's granting of a Preliminary Injunction in favor of the Plaintiff, reviewed Judge Page's findings and unanimously reversed his decision and ruled that Plaintiff had not met the required evidentiary burden of demonstrating that either its chemical formulas or pricing had been misappropriated by the Defendant Keil either under tort law principles or the Utah Uniform Trade Secrets Act. §13-24-1 Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended) (see Addendum A). Following that ruling, Defendants moved for Summary Judgment against the Plaintiff on all issues. (R. 1422) The Court granted Partial Summary Judgment on the issue of misappropriation of chemical formula but failed to grant Summary Judgment on the issues of misappropriation of the Plaintiff's price list, interference with economic relationships and violation of the Utah Uniform Trade Secrets Act.

Following further discovery, Defendants filed a second Motion for Summary Judgment(R. 1670) which was denied by the Court on November 15, 1999. (R. 1841)

Jury trial commenced on February 23, 2000. At the conclusion of Plaintiff's case, Defendants moved for a Directed Verdict pursuant to Rule 58 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The Court denied that Motion and the jury then found in favor of the Plaintiff and against the Defendants pursuant to a special interrogatory verdict (see Addendum B) and entered Judgment, jointly and severally, against Defendants for \$188,675.00.

Following the verdict, the Defendants filed Motions for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or for a New Trial and Amendment of Verdict which were denied on May 31, 2000. Notice of Appeal to this Court was filed on June 1, 2000.

FACTS

The following factual presentation represents a marshalling of the evidence presented both by Plaintiff and Defendants during the proceedings in the Trial Court. For ease of reference, the Plaintiff, Water and Energy Systems Technology Inc, will be referenced through the remainder of this Brief as WEST, the Defendant Steven L. Keil, as Keil and the Defendant Brody Chemical Co. Inc. as Brody. References to the pleadings in the record on

appeal will be prefaced by the letter R and the pleading itself. References to the Trial Transcript will be identified by the letters Tp followed by the page number of the transcript. The exhibits which were offered in the trial are referred to by the exhibit number. Other major documents will be supplied in the Addendum.

1. WEST and Brody are companies operating in the State of Utah who develop, market and distribute water treatment chemicals and services to the general public. (Tp. 4 and 318]

2. Keil began employment with WEST as a water treatment chemical salesman in 1986. At the time of his employment Keil held a bachelors degree in Physics and Math and a Masters Degree in Chemical Engineering with a Minor in Chemistry. [Tp. 10-11]

3. Although Keil had previously worked for Dow Chemical Company, he did not specifically work in water treatment and had no training whatsoever in the areas of boiler and cooling tower treatment. [Tp. 11]

4. At no time did Keil sign an agreement stating that if he terminated his employment with WEST he would not go to work with any of WEST's competitors and no other non-competition restriction existed contractually between WEST and Keil [Tp. 107]

5. While employed by WEST, the majority of Keil's income was derived from sales to the following customers: Hill Air Force Base, Alliant Tech, Laidlaw, Mag Corp, Utah State University, EG & G and Cargill Flour. [Tp. 12-13]

6. Franklin M. Leaver Jr. was the President of WEST during the entire period of Keil's employment. [Tp 4]

7. Mr. Leaver and Keil testified that the process by which Keil obtained customers was that he would use bid sheets and prospect lists that were given to him by WEST. Keil would then contact potential customers and develop a price and product proposal for each specific customer. [Tp 11 and 309-310] Keil did not specifically create the prices but talked with the potential customers and returned to the WEST office for suggestions as to what prices ought to be charged. Mr. Leaver would then review the assessment and evaluate and modify it as he saw fit. [Tp78 and 309-310] Keil was also told by Mr. Leaver that the prices being developed for WEST's products and services were to be confidential. There were no price lists published by WEST but each customer had specific prices that were individualized for them. No comprehensive price list was ever issued by WEST. [Tp 9-10]

8. When Keil made a proposal to a new customer that had been approved by WEST, letters were normally presented signed by Keil indicating pricing on

a per pound basis with the disclosure of composition concentration and that the material was proprietary and confidential and the prospective customer was to maintain it as such. [Tp 10]

9. During his twelve (12) years with WEST, Keil was successful in increasing WEST's business. In particular, he fostered good working relationships with customers known as Cargill, Alliant Tech and Mag Corp., Utah State University, Hill Air Force Base, Union Pacific, EG&G and Laidlaw. [Tp.12-13]

10. WEST had long term agreements with Cargill, Mag Corp and Alliant Tech to purchase various products at certain prices, although these agreements were not exclusive and the customers were free to purchase product from other suppliers and to terminate the agreement at any time. [Tp. 71-72]

11. Keil was compensated by WEST using a base salary with commissions and received an automobile allowance. [Tp 11-12]

12. In the summer of 1997, WEST began experiencing problems with the Mag Corp account in that the company questioned WEST's ability to service its boiler and ultimately bought products from another company. Keil was in charge of the Mag Corp account during this period. [Tp .18]

13. Shortly thereafter, James Wilson, an employee with Brody for 2 1/2 years met Keil and discussed with him the concept of coming to work for

Brody. Sometime in October of 1997, Keil met Jon Liddiard, the President of Brody, and continued discussions about coming to work for Brody. [Tp137-138]

14. Wilson testified that an understanding was reached between Keil and Brody sometime between October and November of 1997, that Keil would leave WEST and associate himself with Brody, however, no firm agreement was reached because Keil needed more time to determine that he could provide similar products at competitive pricing for Brody that he had with WEST. [Tp 139]

15. During this period, Keil contacted Buckman Laboratories and ultimately satisfied himself that he could compete at Brody and determined to leave WEST. [Tp 49-50] During this same period, another employee of WEST, Greg Offerman, also expressed interest in leaving WEST and going with Brody and met with Keil and representatives of Brody on a number of occasions to discuss future employment. [Tp. 224-228]

16. On March 2, 1998, Keil and Offerman informed Mr. Leaver for the first time that they were considering employment with Brody. At the time of that discussion, Mr. Leaver had no idea the two men had been talking to Brody. He asked both men to give him at least two weeks notice and Offerman agreed.

The following evening, March 3rd, Keil informed Mr. Leaver that March 2nd was his last day and that he would not return. [Tp 27]

17. Immediately after March 2, 1998, Keil sent letters to six major customers of WEST telling them that he was leaving WEST and that he could provide the same quality of service and product as a representative of Brody with a 10% reduction in price. Keil prepared these letters on Brody's stationery on his own computer. One of the letters was dated February 18th but was not sent at that time. All of the letters were hand-delivered by Keil to the specific customers including Alliant Tech, Mag Corp, and Cargill on or about March 10th or 11, 1998. [Tp. 348-352] Keil prepared these letters and made the proposals based upon knowledge he gained during the time he worked with WEST. Keil took no documents with him that set forth pricing but had the knowledge of the prices that were developed by Mr. Leaver and him while Keil was employed by WEST. [Tp. 350-351] (See Addendum C)

18. Following Keil's leaving WEST, WEST sent a certified letter requiring that Keil return to WEST various proprietary items that he had in his possession. [Tp 29]

19. Mr. Leaver testified that a pager was returned in approximately a week to ten days. [Tp 29] Keys were not returned for some time, nor was a Hill Air Force Base key and customer files. Ultimately some customer files were

partially returned although they had no correspondence or service reports in them between February of 1996 through March of 1998. [Tp. 29-32] Two price sheets were returned, but all other price sheets that WEST claimed Keil received and were in his possession were not returned. [Tp 32] Mr. Leaver testified that there was still some missing inventory including pricing sheets for Alliant Tech and Mag Corp as of the date of the Trial, March 2, 2000.[Tp32]

20. On March 16, 1998, WEST received a letter from Mag Corp stating that "after reviewing recent developments including problems with WEST's representative (Keil)" it decided to select another supplier.(Tp 39-40]

21. During the trial, representatives of each of the three companies that WEST used to establish damages, Cargill, Mag Corp and Alliant Tech, testified that they already knew their prices and that Keil only disclosed his knowledge of their prices to each of them individually and did not disclose their prices to other competitors. [Tp. 166-184-205] Mr. Leaver also testified that there was no evidence that Keil gave the prices Alliant Tech was paying for a particular product to Mag Corp or to Cargill or visa versa. He also testified that he had no contract with the particular parties binding them to purchase only from WEST. If they got a better price from someone else, there was nothing to prohibit them from buying the product if they felt it would do the job at a better price. [Tp70-72] Specifically, each of the representatives of Mag Corp, Alliant

Tech and Cargill testified that pricing was not the key issue in determining whether or not they accepted a particular proposal for water treatment products but that a) quality of service and b) the reputation of the service technician were most important. [Tp. 168-69, 186-87, 215-216]

22. The President of WEST California, Brent W.Chettell, also testified that price was not the most important factor in determining the selection of a water chemical treatment supplier and that other considerations such as service, technician, and quality of product were of primary importance. [Tp. 267]

23. None of the representatives of Cargill, Alliant Tech or Mag Corp testified that they either stopped utilizing WEST or utilized Brody on the basis of price.[Tp. 168-70, 186-90,215-218]

24. Although Mr. Leaver continued to assert that the letters sent out by Keil were inappropriate, he testified that the disclosure by Keil in the letters of the prices to the individual companies was not a violation of something he believed was proprietary and that the offending portion of the document (letters) was a statement that Brody could provide the same or similar products and that nothing else violated any of WEST's proprietary interests. [Tp 115-116]

25. In one instance, Kathy Vigil of Alliant Tech testified that when Mr. Leaver and an associate approached her, after Keil had left WEST and began working with Brody, their rudeness and inappropriate behavior caused her to

determined that Alliant Tech would no longer do business with WEST. [Tp. 205-208]

26. Keith Rydalch of Mag Corp testified that he sent a letter dated March 16th to WEST indicating that "after reviewing recent developments including problems with WEST's representative (Keil)" they decided to select another supplier. Rydalch further testified that he thought Keil's behavior with respect to leaving WEST and sending out the letter the day after his termination was inappropriate. [Tp. 67-68]

27. Mr. Leaver testified, based upon WEST's prior history of sales to Alliant Tech, Cargill and Mag Corp. respectively, that in February of 1998, he received a two year purchase order from Alliant Tech and anticipated gross sales for the two year period would have been \$136,419.48 factoring in a gross profit margin of 60% thus the damage to WEST because of Alliants failure to continue purchasing products and services was \$81,851.69. With respect to Mag Corp, Mr. Leaver testified the total anticipated growth sales for two years was \$167,417.25 factoring a 63% profit margin resulting in damages of \$105,472.87. The projected loss for Cargill under the same theory was \$6,391.62. [Tp 71-73] (See Plaintiff's Exhibit 29)

The following facts relate specifically to the District Court proceedings concerning various pre-trial, trial, and post-trial motions.

28. Following this Court's ruling in Water Energy Systems Technology Inc., vs. Steven L. Keil Supra on February 19, 1999, the Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment claiming that the water treatment formulas and the price list of the Plaintiff were not trade secrets and had not been misappropriated by the Defendants. [See R. 1422]

29. On July 28, 1999, the Trial Judge ruled "That while there is sufficient evidence from which the trier of fact could conclude that the formula and price list of Plaintiff were confidential and Defendant Keil was under an expressed or implied contract which limited their disclosure. However, in order for the Plaintiff to prevail on claim of misappropriation of Plaintiff's formula, Plaintiff has to prove that the formulas were the same or that Brody's formulas were specifically derived from those of the Plaintiff. No such credible evidence has been provided either by testimony at the prior hearing or by subsequent affidavit. For that reason, the Court grants Defendant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the issue of the misappropriation of the formulae. The Court further concludes that there remains a question of fact as to the misappropriation of Plaintiff's price list, and as to whether the Plaintiff's price lists were used by Defendant Keil and Brody in establishing their own price lists." Based upon the foregoing, the Trial Court denied Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. (See Addendum D.)

30. The Defendants filed a second motion for Summary Judgment on November 2, 1999. (R. 1670) The Court ruled that there were still contested material issues of fact, but limited the WEST's damage claim to the following customers: Mag Corp., EG&G, Union Pacific, Hill Air Force Base, Utah State University, Cargill Flour, Laidlaw and Alliant Tech Systems. [See Addendum E]

31. After the conclusion of the Plaintiff's case, the Defendants moved for a Directed Verdict, R.1992, relying heavily on the case of Microbiological Research Corporation vs. Muna, 625 P. 2d 690 (Utah 1981). The Trial Court ruled from the bench as follows: " The Court knows that..... Defendants primarily rely on the case (Muna) which was in 1991 case. That subsequent to that time in 1989 Utah adopted the Utah Trade Secret Act and that induces into the law new issues which in fact are before the Court in the matters which have been filed." Judge Page then cited specific provisions of the Act and ruled, with respect to the particular definitions of the Act, that there were still issues to be determined and if the jury chose to believe everything that was presented by way of the Plaintiff's case, they could find a misappropriation of a trade secret. The question of damages was, still in fact, one for the jury.

32. The Trial Court then looked at the intentional interference with economic purpose and determined that under tort law WEST would have to

demonstrate that the Defendants' interference was maliciously motivated in the sense of inspired desire to do harm to the Plaintiff for the Defendants' own sake and that there has been no such showing. The only basis shown by Plaintiff to demonstrate intentional interference was that there was a misappropriation of a trade secret by Keil or Brody. The Trial Court also eliminated for consideration by the jury any claim for damages except as to Alliant Tech, Mag Corp, and Cargill. [Tp 292-293 Bench Ruling]

33. Following the Trial, the Defendant's timely filed Motions for a New Trial, Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and Amended Judgment. These Motions were argued in a separate hearing on May 2, 2000. Unfortunately the Clerk of the Court failed to put a video tape in the machine and the argument was not recorded and, therefore, cannot be given to the Court.

34. The Trial Court's findings with respect to Defendants' post-trial motions were entered on May 31, 2000 and in particular stated:

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