2000

Water and Energy Systems Technology, Inc. v.
Steven L. Keil, Brody Chemical Company, Inc. :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Brody and Keil have failed to marshal all the evidence supporting the jury's verdict and then demonstrate that, despite such marshaled evidence, the verdict is against the clear weight of the evidence. Instead, they have selectively presented and skewed evidence to support their argument on appeal, in effect rearguing the merits of their case before this Court. The trial court properly denied summary judgment on the issue of pricing

³ Any reference to USU including the associated damages claimed and outlined in Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 29, were stricken by the trial court prior to the submission of the case to the jury. R. at 1981, 2366, pp. 293-294.

information, since the evidentiary standards and burdens applicable to a Rule 65A extraordinary relief hearing (involving limited evidence) do not obtain to a jury trial setting (involving a broader hearing of the evidence). Brody's and Keil's arguments about the lack of a written non-compete clause are misplaced and irrelevant, since: (1) Utah law imposes a duty on an employee not to disclose or misappropriate the confidential information of his employer in order to compete with that employer; and (2) the relief requested in this case was based on a theory of misappropriation of trade secrets and not upon a duty not to compete. By basing damages on WEST's losses rather than on Brody's and Keil's benefits, the jury utilized the proper measure of damages since Utah law expressly uses such a measure of damages. The trial court erred in refusing: (1) admission of evidence in relation to Brody's and Keil's diversion of the USU account from WEST; (2) consideration of statutory double damages due to willful and malicious misappropriation; and (3) an award of statutory attorneys fees.

ARGUMENT

I. BRODY AND KEIL HAVE FAILED TO MEET THEIR BURDEN OF MARSHALING THE EVIDENCE.

In challenging a jury verdict and that verdict's associated factual findings, Brody and Keil must proceed in two steps. First, they must marshal all the evidence that supports the jury verdict. Second, they must then demonstrate that, despite the marshaled evidence, the verdict and associated findings are so lacking in support as to be "against the clear weight

of the evidence” and, thus, clearly erroneous. See Doelle v. Bradley, 784 P.2d 1176, 1178 (Utah 1989); see also Grayson Roper Ltd. Partnership v. Finlinson, 782 P.2d 467, 470 (Utah 1989).

Furthermore, Brody and Keil have a high standard to meet in marshaling the evidence. “In order to properly discharge the duty of marshaling the evidence, the challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which *supports* the very findings [or verdict] the appellant resists.” Interiors Contracting, Inc. v. Smith, Halander & Smith Assocs., 881 P.2d 929, 933 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (emphasis in original, quoting West Valley City v. Majestic Inv. Co., 818 P.2d 1311, 1313 (Utah Ct. App. 1991)). “Once appellants have established every pillar supporting their adversary’s position, they then ‘must ferret out a fatal flaw in the evidence’ and show why those pillars fail to support the trial court’s [or jury’s] findings.” Oneida/SLIC v. Oneida Cold Storage and Warehouse, Inc., 872 P.2d 1051, 1053 (Utah Ct. App. 1994), quoting West Valley, 818 P.2d at 1314. An appellant fails to meet his burden of marshaling where he ignores evidence supportive of a jury’s verdict and associated findings and instead selectively marshals only evidence supportive of his position, since to do so is tantamount to improperly rearguing the merits of his case before the appellate court. Interiors Contracting, 881 P.2d at 933; Oneida, 872 P.2d at 1053. Therefore, when an appellant fails to adequately marshal the evidence for a reviewing appellate court, that court should “refuse to consider the merits of challenges to the findings [or verdict] and accept the findings [or

verdict] as valid.” Mountain States Broadcasting v. Neale, 783 P.2d 551, 553 (Utah Ct. App. 1989).

As is apparent from a comparison between WEST’s “Statement of Facts” section above and the selective “facts” adduced by Brody and Keil in their Appellants’ Brief, a number of important pieces of evidence presented to the jury and supportive of the jury verdict were not even cited by Brody and Keil in their Appellants’ Brief. Instead of presenting such supportive evidence and attempting to demonstrate its insufficiency, Brody and Keil instead presented this Court with the selective version of the facts that Brody and Keil think the jury should have accepted at the trial below.⁴ In other words, Brody and Keil selected facts favorable to their theory of the case, while wholly ignoring those facts supportive of the findings of the jury and trial court below. Rather than properly marshaling the evidence as required, Brody and Keil selectively presented facts favorable to their argument on appeal in a misplaced and inappropriate effort to reargue the merits of their case before this Court. Because Brody and Keil have failed in their basic threshold duty on appeal to properly marshal the evidence, the jury’s verdict must stand.

However, Brody and Keil not only fail to cite certain material facts supportive of the jury’s verdict, they go a step further to actually misrepresent or skew the nature of certain facts adduced in their Brief. In analyzing Brody’s and Keil’s arguments as contained in their

⁴ Brody’s and Keil’s implication of jury ineptitude is of a piece with their inappropriate and continued disparagement throughout their Brief of the abilities, competencies and judgment of both the jury and the trial court. (See Appellants’ Brief at 20, 24, 25, 28, 39, 40 and 41.)

Brief, it should be noted that a number of their arguments are built on assumptions that they reached in their arguments before the trial court, but which the jury did not reach and which in fact are contradicted by testimony presented to the jury and supportive of the jury verdict.

For example, Brody and Keil in their Fact No. 17 claimed that Keil took no documents with him that set forth pricing. That is specifically contradicted by the testimony of Mr. Keil himself admitting that a pricing document, specifically Exhibit No. 21, he returned after he terminated his employment with WEST, had his writing on it. (R. at 2366, pp. 249-50.) Not only does that admission prove he had WEST's pricing documents after he left WEST but also the handwriting on Exhibit No. 21 reflects the pricing which Brody proposed to Alliant in Keil's solicitation letter of March 3, 1998. (Compare with Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 15.) In addition, the testimony is quite clear that Keil had other pricing documentation which he took when he left WEST, much of which he did not return. Thus, much of the claims of Brody and Keil contained in their Fact No. 17 with regard to how that pricing came to be put in the solicitation letters is not only strongly countered by testimony presented to the jury, but is completely contradicted by Mr. Keil's own admissions at trial, including Keil's statement that based solely on memory he had no idea what a particular price was for a particular WEST product.

The claim is made in Brody's and Keil's Fact No. 21 that Keil did not disclose WEST's customer pricing to other WEST customers. Since Cargill, MagCorp and Alliant are in totally different lines of business (Cargill is in the flour business, MagCorp extracts

minerals, and Alliant makes rocket propellants and other similar products). they were not competitors with each other. The competitors in this case were WEST and Brody, not WEST's various and disparate customers. There was a specific disclosure of WEST confidential and customer-specific pricing to WEST's competitor, namely Brody. Therefore Brody's and Keil's factual claim is off-point and irrelevant to the real issue in this case: whether Keil misappropriated and improperly disclosed WEST's proprietary and confidential information to WEST's competitor, Brody. Any inference that no actionable disclosure took place by virtue of the fact that no disclosure was made among WEST's non-competing customers is totally and completely incorrect.

It is represented in Brody's and Keil's Fact No. 23 that neither Cargill nor Alliant stopped utilizing WEST or started utilizing Brody on the basis of price. Although there was some claim that price was not the determinative factor in those companies' respective purchasing decisions, nevertheless it was a significant factor for both Cargill and Alliant, and they admitted as much, particularly on the basis that everything else they were promised to receive from Brody--in terms of product formulation and support service--would be essentially the same as they had been receiving from WEST.

In Brody's and Keil's Fact No. 25, the claim is made that the rudeness and inappropriate behavior of Frank Leaver and Curtis Beck toward Cathy Vigil caused Ms. Vigil to switch Alliant's water treatment business away from WEST to Brody. The true testimony is that she had already made the decision to switch water treatment suppliers a full week or

more before she even saw or otherwise came into contact with Mr. Leaver and Mr. Beck. She testified that when Keil came to see her the day after he formally left WEST was the very day she went to her company management to cancel Alliant's newly-placed two-year order with WEST and to immediately place an order with Brody. Whatever the circumstances of her meeting with Mr. Leaver and Mr. Beck a week or so later, such contact was not the factor which occasioned Alliant's switch from WEST to Brody.

One other area where Keil and Brody misstate the evidence is in the text of their argument at page 36 of their Brief. They point out certain information as "set forth in Plaintiff's Exhibit F and G appended to Defendants' Memorandums supporting Motion for a New Trial." Those documents are not part of the trial transcript. They were never introduced at trial as exhibits. No attempt was ever made to introduce them at trial. They are not facts before this Court. This inappropriate citation is an attempt to indirectly introduce evidence for this Court's consideration which was not submitted at trial below. To do so by the bootstrap means of identifying unadmitted attachments to a post-judgment memorandum is disingenuous at best. This Court should completely ignore the calculations and figures contained in such unadmitted documents, and should likewise disregard Brody's and Keil's argument on that point. The only evidence which was presented to the jury with regard to damages was that which came from Plaintiff (except for Keil's claim of damages on his counterclaim).

One last instance of misleading marshaling is Brody's and Keil's selective out-of-context quotation of Brent Chettle's trial testimony in order to make it appear that WEST acknowledged that pricing was not a significant factor in the water treatment industry. (Appellants' Brief at 30.) Mr. Chettle's testimony was that, all other factors being equal, pricing can be the determinative factor in closing a sale of water treatment products. (R. at 2366; pp.267-69.)

The above examples of failed, incomplete, skewed, or misleading marshaling are by no means exhaustive. But the number and magnitude of such examples demonstrate that such instances of failure on the part of Brody and Keil are neither incidental, inadvertent nor harmless. Rather, they are legion, they are material, and they are systemic. In short, they call into serious question all of Brody's and Keil's factual representations, both what has been included (including whether any given factual representation is accurate or placed in proper context) and what has not been included.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED BRODY'S AND KEIL'S SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION ON THE ISSUE OF PRICING INFORMATION.

Brody and Keil assail both the trial court's denial of summary judgment on pricing issues and the jury's verdict of misappropriation of confidential pricing information by arguing that such outcomes do not accord with this Court's prior ruling in Water & Energy Systems Technology, Inc. v. Keil, 1999 UT 16, 974 P.2d 821. This Court will recall that that opinion held that the trial court's preliminary injunction should be reversed since WEST did

not satisfy Rule 65A evidentiary standards. namely, WEST had failed to adequately show copying of confidential chemical formulations of products where such formulations were claimed to be misappropriated.

In relation to the issue of confidential product pricing, Brody and Keil try to equate pre-trial preliminary injunctive relief with the jury trial verdict at issue in this appeal, arguing that somehow the same evidentiary standards and burden for one should apply equally to the other. They argue that the same standards and presumptions that apply to immediate injunctive relief somehow obtain at a jury trial seeking damages.

Extraordinary relief--such as a preliminary injunction as was earlier requested in this case--has a different standard by which they are tested. Preliminary injunctions necessarily involve presenting limited amounts of testimony at the outset of a case. By no means is that testimony determinative of the case's ultimate outcome, particularly considering the abbreviated and extraordinary hearing and the fact that discovery has not even begun in most cases. Simply because this Court did not find evidence sufficiently persuasive to convince it that there had been copying of WEST's proprietary and confidential information given the limited evidence presented at the injunctive relief hearing does not mean that the Plaintiff is restricted to the same evidence without more in order to convince a trier of fact in a trial setting. Thus, this Court's previous interlocutory ruling goes to issues involving standards for preliminary injunctions, and not to those determining the propriety of facts as found by

a jury. Indeed a preliminary injunction operates on many of the same principles as a motion for summary judgment but usually without the benefit of any discovery.

In this specific instance, discovery yet commenced as of the time of the issuance of the preliminary injunction and many of the facts which the jury had before it had not been adduced as of the time the trial court granted the preliminary injunction. Possibly among the most important pieces of evidence were the various solicitation letters which Keil hand-delivered on or about March 3, 1998 to certain WEST customers he was servicing while employed at WEST. The letters were composed at least several weeks before Keil's departure from WEST, and made the claim that Keil could supply those customers with Brody products "essentially the same" as corresponding WEST products but at a ten percent reduction in price from what WEST had been charging. Those letters on their face tell the customer that the Brody products which Keil is going to be selling will duplicate what the client most likely considered was a confidential and exclusive WEST product, and more importantly, that the pricing from WEST (which was known only to WEST and the specific customer) is now known to Brody as a basis for competition. That Brody had access to or possession of WEST's confidential pricing and was using it to solicit WEST customers was not known to the trial court nor to this Court on interlocutory appeal at the time of that preliminary injunction action. Those letters and accompanying testimony supply some of the critical missing elements that this Court said were necessary to uphold the preliminary injunction, namely, proof that Keil was copying or utilizing WEST's confidential pricing.

In short, the presentation of evidence in an injunctive relief proceeding is governed by those standards and criteria laid out in Utah R. Civ. P. 65A. In a civil trial setting, particular causes of action are governed by the standards and burdens of proof as may be outlined in applicable statutory or case law. In this case, jury instructions stating applicable standards of proof were given and were based on the State's Model Jury Instructions, as well as on relevant Utah case law and the Utah Trade Secrets Act. It is of note that Brody and Keil failed at trial to complain of any particular jury instruction in this regard (or at least have failed to show that any such objections were preserved for the record), and would be unable to at this point, given that the jury instructions finally submitted by the trial court to the jury were reviewed and approved by Brody and Keil, who therefore did not preserve any such conceivable objection they may now make to the same. See Utah R. Civ. P. 51 ("No party may assign as error the giving or the failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto.") Instead, Brody and Keil ignore and try to circumvent this deficiency by arguing, without any cited or persuasive authority, that somehow the standards of a Rule 65A injunctive proceeding should continue to obtain for a civil jury trial. The argument speaks for itself, and any contentions by Brody and Keil that the presentation of evidence presented at the jury trial somehow fell short of the requirements of the injunctive relief hearing should be ignored and discarded as irrelevant and pointless.

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